No. 70403-6-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD BLICK, Appellant;

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ELDON VAIL, BERNIE WARNER, and DOES 1-20, Respondents.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Beth Andrus No. 12-2-35870-2 SEA

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT BLICK

MICHAEL C. KAHRS, WSBA #27085 Attorney for Appellant Blick 5215 Ballard Ave. NW, Ste. 2 Seattle, WA 98107 (206) 264-0643

**ORIGINAL** 

## **

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. Did the trial court erred in granting Respondents' summary judgment motion (titled motion for judgment on the pleadings)?
- 2. Did the trial court erred in denying Appellant's partial motion for summary judgment?

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. Does the statutory language contained in RCW 9.92.151 and RCW 9.94A.729 create two separate but equal statutory schemes by which the agency having jurisdiction over an inmate has sole authority to promulgate policies for granting or taking away good-time for the time the inmate spent under that's agency's jurisdiction?
- 2. Do the prior decisions in *In re Pers. Restraint of Williams*, 121 Wn.2d 655, 853 P.2d 444 (1993) and progeny establish that the Department of Corrections may not take away good-time from a inmate under their jurisdiction if the good-time was earned while under the jurisdiction of a county jail?
- 3. Does the prior decision in *In re Pers. Restraint of Mattson*, 166 Wn.2d 730, 214 P.3d 141 (2009) provide statutory authority pursuant to RCW 9.94A.729 for the Department of Corrections to take away good-time from Mr. Blick that he earned in the county jail because he could not obtain an approved address for release?
- 4. Were the Respondents negligent in implementing its statutory duty by establishing policies permitting it to take away 52 days of Mr. Blick's jail good-time?
- 5. Did the Respondents falsely imprison Mr. Blick by establishing policies permitting it to take away 52 days of Mr. Blick's jail good-time?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Richard Blick was arrested June 1, 2000 in King County. He was held in the King County Department of Adult Detention (Jail) for his trial and sentencing. While incarcerated in the King County Jail, Mr. Blick accumulated earned release credits (good-time) pursuant to a procedure developed and promulgated by the King County Jail.<sup>1</sup>

Mr. Blick pled guilty. He was sentenced on March 16, 2001. CP 3-82 (Judgment and Sentence). After conviction and sentencing, Mr. Blick was transported to the Department of Corrections (the Department) on April 6, 2001.

On April 5, 2001, the King County Jail provided the Department a Jail Certification and Authorization for Earned Early Release Credit showing the straight-time Blick had spent while in custody, a total of 310 days.<sup>2</sup> CP 83. The certificate also stated Mr. Blick had earned 54 days of early release credits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Earned release credits is used interchangeably with good-time and has the same meaning. Good-time is more common but the words "earned release credits" are used in various statutes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>By "straight-time time," it is meant that time spent in a county jail on a day by day basis. It is what any good-time calculation is based upon.

The Department made its initial calculation of dates affecting Mr. Blick's release. CP 84 (Release Date Calculation, April 16, 2001). In this calculation the Department entered jail time-served and good-time earned and, (based on the sentence length), calculated his Earned Release Date (ERD) to be January 17, 2010. His ERD was calculated by subtracting from his maximum sentence, (the time he had already spent in jail), and jail good-time in addition to all possible good-time he would earn while serving his sentence under the jurisdiction of the Department.

Mr. Blick's Maximum Expiration Date (MXED) was calculated to be September 30, 2011. The MXED was calculated by subtracting all jail straight-time from the total sentence length. In other words, no credit was given for good-time earned in King County Jail.

Another release date was calculated - the Minimum Expiration Date (MNED).<sup>3</sup> The MNED is obtained by giving Mr. Blick credit for all the good-time earned at the King County Jail. It can be calculated by subtracting from the number of jail good-time earned from the MXED. It was calculated to be August 7,2011. This is the date which Mr. Blick would have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the Complaint, this was referred to as County Jail Maximum Release Date. However, in the Department's Release Date Calculation refers to it as the Minimum Expiration Date. CP 84, 97. So this language is used for consistency and understanding.

released if the Department had not taken away the good-time he earned in the jail.

While under the jurisdiction of the Department, Mr. Blick had been found guilty of an infraction. Because of that infraction resulting in the loss of 90 days good-time earned while under the Department's jurisdiction pursuant to policy. CP 85-96 (Policy 350.100 Earned Release Time). His new release date calculations showed his new ERD to be April 17, 2010 with the same MNED and MXED. CP 97 (Release Date Calculation, September 26, 2006).

After Mr. Blick made an inquiry into his good-time, the King County Jail recalculated his good-time and sent the Department an amended certificate. CP 98 (Jail Certification and Authorization for Earned Early Release Credit, April 29, 2008). The amended certificate changed the number of good-time days Mr. Blick had earned while under the jurisdiction of the King County Jail to 52 days. The number of straight days stayed the same. The Department then recalculated release dates. It removed two days of jail good-time based upon the amended certification. CP 99 (Release Date Calculation, May 6, 2008). This resulted a MNED now of August 9, 2011. The ERD was also recalculated to April 19, 2010.

Mr. Blick was required to obtain an approved address before he was eligible for release in accordance with the law in effect on the date of his

crimes of conviction. *Former* RCW 9.94A.120(10) (*citing* RCW 9.94.120(9)(b)(v)). Mr. Blick was not able to obtain an approved address while under the jurisdiction of the Department and was released to the community on his MXED, September 30, 2011.

When Mr. Blick was released on September 30, 2011, all good-time earned while he was under the jurisdiction of King County was forfeited solely by the actions of the Department. If the Department had not forfeited the 52 days of earned release credit s granted by the county jail, Mr. Blick's maximum sentence would have ended August 9,2011.

#### B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

Mr. Blick filed a summons and complaint on November 2, 2012. CP 1-14. In this complaint, he presented two state tort claims against the Respondents on behalf of himself and others so situated. One was for negligence and the other was for false imprisonment. The Respondents timely

filed an Answer to the Complaint with affirmative defenses. CP 15-24.

Mr. Blick filed a partial motion for summary judgment with exhibits. CP 70-127. The Respondents filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings with documents. CP 25-69, 128-132. Both parties responded. CP 133-259. Both parties filed a reply. CP 260-280. After a hearing held April 5, 2013, Respondents' motion was granted and Appellants' was denied. Respondents'

motion for judgment on the pleadings was converted to a motion for summary judgment. A formal order was entered April 23, 2013. CP 281-283. On May 21, 2013, a timely appeal of the final order was filed. CP 284-288.

#### III. ARGUMENT

Mr. Blick will first show that the legislature did not intend to commingle good-time from Washington jails and prisons. He will then show that the Respondents acted negligently when it took away jail good-time from Mr. Blick because he was not permitted to be released before his maximum release date. The Respondents will then be shown to have falsely imprisoned Mr. Blick for each day that jail good-time was taken away from him.

# A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW OF A SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION SUPPORTED SOLELY BY AFFIDAVITS IS *DE NOVO*.

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, affidavits, interrogatories, depositions and exhibits show there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment on the issues presented as a matter of law. *Havens v. C&D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 177, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). "When reviewing an order of summary judgment, this Court conducts the same inquiry as the trial court." *Pulcino v. Fed. Express Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d 629, 639, 9 P.3d 787 (2000). When reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion regarding the claims of disputed facts,

such questions may be determined as a matter of law. *Corbally v. Kennewick School Dist.*, 94 Wn.App. 736, 740, 937 P.2d 1074 (1999). "All questions of law are reviewed de novo." *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 103, 26 P.3d 257 (2001).

- B. THE LEGISLATURE ESTABLISHED SEPARATE AUTHORITIES TO AGENCIES HAVING JURISDICTION OVER INDIVIDUAL PRISONERS TO DEVELOP POLICIES GRANTING AND TAKING AWAY GOOD-TIME TO CLARIFY AUTHORITY AND TO PROMOTE PUBLIC POLICY.
  - 1. The Legislature Drafted the Good-time Statutes to Address Jurisdictional Problems to Create a Chinese Wall Between the County Jails and Prison.

Prior to the Sentence Reform Act (SRA) when the Parole Board held sway, there was no statutory authority for the Department to credit individuals under its jurisdiction of the time they had spent in county jails awating trial and sentencing. See RCW 9.95.070. Without such statutory authority, those individuals who had bailed out potentially served shorter sentences than those individuals who did not make bail.<sup>4</sup> When this was challenged, the Supreme Court held that failure to credit a prisoner's maximum and mandatory minimum terms for the presentence jail time served

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>3This is because those who bailed out would get good-time credit once they reached the Department of Corrections for their complete sentence. Those who did not bailout would only receive good-time for that part of their sentence spent under the jurisdiction of the Department.

was in violation of the constitution. See Reanier v. Smith, 83 Wn.2d 342, 517 P.2d 949 (1982), In re Pers. Restraint of Phelan, 97 Wn.2d 590, 647 P.2d Subsequently, Phelan sought good-time credit for his 1026 (1992). presentencejail time served. This argument was denied based on the differences in rehabilitative effects of prisons and jails. State v. Phelan, 100 Wn.2d 508, 515, 671 P.2d 1212 (1983). Upon passage of the SRA, individuals were explicitly granted earned early release time for good behavior and performance. Former RCW 9.94A.150. There still existed no law stating that individuals could receive good-time during their incarceration at county jails. The only apparent source for this credit were the trial courts during sentencing. The sentencing judge would write on the Judgment and Sentence how many days the criminal defendant was entitled to. Because of the difficulty of obtaining credit for good-time based on time served in county jails, this inconsistent practice was challenged. See In re Pers. Restraint of Mota, 114 Wn.2d 465, 788 P.2d 538 (1990).

Mota had been convicted under the SRA and sent to the Department of Corrections after serving time in the county jail. The Department refused to grant Mota good-time based on the straight-time he spent in the county jail. In a companion case involving Baker, the trial court granted some credit for good-time earned while he under the county jail's jurisdiction but he believed he was entitled to more good-time. *Id.* at 469. The Department felt that the

trial court did not have the authority to grant any good-time. *Id*.

The Supreme Court decided that the Legislature had not intended for him to get good-time for the time spent in the county jail but that the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment had been violated because those individuals who received bail would receive a shorter sentence. *Id.* at 469. In the companion case involving Baker, the trial court granted credit for good-time earned while he under the county jail's jurisdiction. *Id.* The holding of *Mota* made it quite clear that the only authority to grant good-time was vested in the Department. *Id.* However, since Baker and Mota had been arrested, this has all changed.

In 1989, a problem still remained of how the Department would credit jail good-time to individuals who serve the rest of their sentence in prison. There simply was no formal mechanism to accomplish this goal. The only good-time laws pertained to time spent under the jurisdiction of the Department. At the request of the Sentencing Guidelines Commission, a law was proposed which would enable the prisoner housed at a county jail to have his or her sentence reduced by earning early release time for the time spent in the jail.

The law enacted by the Legislature granted jails the right to develop policies governing how jail inmates earned and lost earned early release time.

Former RCW 9.92.151. The jails were then required to certify to the

Department the amount of time the individual spent in custody and the amount of early release time earned. *Id.* at 470-71 (*citing* Laws of 1989, ch 248 § 1 (Substitute Senate Bill 5191 (SSB 5191)); *former* RCW 9.94A.150). The stated purpose of the legislation was to standardize the application of good-time statutes. CP 100-101 (SSB 5191 Final Bill Report (1989)).

In 1990, the same year *Mota* was decided, both good-time statutes, RCW 9.92.151 and RCW 9.94A.150 were changed to clarify that it was not the facility that had the power to develop good-time policies, it was the agency having jurisdiction. Laws of 1990, ch 3 § 202 (Second Substitute Senate Bill 6259). Other subsequent changes to RCW 9.94A.150 reflected different categories of good-time based on crimes of conviction. RCW 9.94A.150 was subsequently recodified as RCW 9.94A.728. RCW 9.94A.728 was then split in two and recodified as RCW 9.94A.728 and .729. The language that established the separate but equal good-time statutes is now contained in RCW 9.94A.729(1).

2. Washington Courts Have Acknowledged the Actions of the Legislature to Separate Out Statutory Responsibility for the Development of Good-Time Policies to the Agency Having Jurisdiction.

Since the decision in *Mota* and the subsequent changes made to the good-time statutory scheme, our courts have examined the relationship between the two good-time statutes and the interaction between the various

agencies having jurisdiction. The examination of this relationship started right after the *Mota* decision and has continued to the present. *See In re Pers*. *Restraint of Williams*, 121 Wn.2d 655.

Williams had been arrested and housed at the King County Jail. He was convicted of first degree murder and sent to the Department of Corrections. In accordance with standard procedure, the King County Jail sent a certification to the Department that Williams had been incarcerated for 232 days at the jail and had earned 77 good-time credits. *Id.* at 658. His good-time was apparently miscalculated by King County. Williams filed a Personal Restraint Petition asking that Department be ordered to grant him all the good-time he had earned while in the King County Jail.

At oral arguments, the Department acknowledged that if Williams had been granted all his good-time by the jail, he would have received 116 days of good-time. *Id.* at 659. The *Williams* court acknowledged it was either an error in calculation or the jail withheld 39 days because of Williams' conduct, but the record was unclear. *Id.* at 660. Williams argued that the Department violated the good-time statute by failing to give maximum good-time earned in the jail and cited *Mota*. *Id.* at 661. The Court disagreed, stating that the SRA good-time statute, RCW 9.94A.150(1) divies authority over the award of good-time between the two agencies, the county jail and the Department. Nothing in the language required the Department to recalculate the jail's

good-time award. *Id.* at 661. "Indeed, the statute appears to give the various correctional authorities, both county jails and the state correctional system, plenary authority over good-time awards for offenders under their jurisdiction." *Id.* 

Both parties then took contrary positions about what to do with the certification. The Department argued that it had only a passive role and it was not required to provide oversight of county jails. *Id.* Williams argued the Department should ignore the certification and correct his good-time based on the time he had spent at the jail. *Id.* at 664. The Supreme Court took a third position - that the Department is prohibited from accepting certifications based on apparent or manifest errors of law. Even though it gave the Department authority to reject wrongful certifications, in no way did this mean the Department could render a certification null and void on its own. "Under this reading, the county jails retain plenary authority over the grant or denial of good-time to offenders within their jurisdiction." *Id.* It based this reading on the implicit language of the statute. *Id.* Once the problem has been rectified by the jail, the Department is entitled to use the certification to calculate release dates. *Id.* at 666. This interpretation was also deemed to coincide with the purpose of good-time statutes - jailor prison discipline.

The *Williams* Court emphasized that the focus of good-time was based primarily on its effects on discipline, not rehabilitation. *Id.* (*citing Mota*, 114 Wn.2d at 476). Discipline is best enforced when the agency having jurisdiction can punish or reward behavior when it happens.

To effectuate this purpose, RCW 9.94A.150(1) divides authority over the grant or denial of good-time between the county jails and the Department. Under our reading of the statute, the county jail retains complete control over the good-time credits granted to offenders within its jurisdiction.

*Id.* at 655. From Williams derives all subsequent decisions on the two separate but equal good-time statutes for each agency having sole jurisdiction.

3. The Holding of Williams Was Subsequently Upheld in Support of the Department of Corrections' Continued Requests.

The concept set forth in *Williams* that each agency was responsible for developing policies granting or denying good-time for an individual under their jurisdiction has been continually affirmed until the present. *See State v. Donery*, 131 Wn. App. 667, 128 P.3d 1263 (2006); *In re Pers. Restraint of Erickson*, 146 Wn. App. 576 191 P.3d 917 (2008): *In re Pers. Restraint of Talley*, 172 Wn.2d 642, 260 P.3d 868 (2011). Donery had been convicted of persistent prison misbehavior, a felony in Washington. *Donery*, 131 Wn. App. at 669 (*citing* RCW 9.94.070). One of the elements of this crime requires that the inmate be housed in a state correctional institution to have

"los[t] all potential earned early release time credit." *Id.* at 670. Donery had previously earned 38 days of good-time while spending time in the county jail awaiting trial and sentencing. *Id.* Donery argued there was insufficient evidence for conviction because he still had 38 days of jail good-time. The Department argued that it "did not take away the county jail time because it believed it did not have the authority to do so." *Id.* 

To address his claim, the *Donery* court first determined what the meaning of the phrase "all potential earned early release time credit" meant. *Id.* (*citing* RCW 9.94.070(1)). After acknowledging that it was not statutorily defined, it looked at the language of then RCW 9.94A.728, now RCW 9.94A.782 and .729. It also looked other statutes referencing this language. *Id.* at 671 (*citing former* RCW 9.94A.030(21)). It finally examined the Washington Supreme Court's prior ruling in *Williams*, 121 Wn.2d 655. *Id.* Based upon this review, the Court rejected Donery's argument because it determined that "earned early release time means the time Donery could earn in the state [prison] system." *Id.* at 672. The Court concluded that "[b]ecause the state institutions do not have the authority to alter countyjail good-time awards, only the possible early release time that an inmate of a state institution can earn is time granted by DOC." *Id.* at 673.

Donery further argued that the administrative code prevents the Department from rescinding any of the good-time awarded by a county jail.

This argument was soundly rejected by the *Donery* court because "[u]nless the statute expressly or by necessary implication gives the power to oversee county jails' good-time policies, DOC does not have that power." *Id.* (citations omitted). "Thus, the WAC provisions can only govern early release time DOC awards." *Id.* 

Donery finally argued that the inability of Department to rescind good-time earned in county jails would inhibit the ability of the Department to control its prisoners.

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