NO. 70403-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD BLICK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ELDON VAIL, BERNIE WARNER, and DOES 1-20,

Respondents.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DANIEL J. JUDGE, WSBA #17392 Senior Counsel RONDA D. LARSON, WSBA #31833 Assistant Attorney General Attorney General's Office 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW Tumwater, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 OID #91023

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

⁴ The Court in *Mattson* cited with approval the United States Supreme Court's decision that there is no constitutional or inherent right of a convicted person to be conditionally released before the expiration of a valid sentence. *Mattson*, 166 Wn.2d at 737 (citing *Greenholtz v. Nebraska Penal and Correctional Complex*, 442 U.S. 1, 7, 99 S. Ct. 2100, 60 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1979)).

right to be released before the expiration of his valid sentence." Foster v. State, 2011 WL 2692971 (W.D. Wash.), affirmed, 475 Fed. Appx. 241 (9th Cir. 2012). See CP at 50-57. The district court also dismissed offender Todd Foster's state claims of false imprisonment and negligence for being "without merit" for similar reasons. Foster, 2011 WL 2692971 at *5; CP at 53 ("Plaintiff's false imprisonment claim requires him to establish that he had the right to be released early, which he has failed to do. . . . Plaintiff's negligence claims require him to show that the Department had a duty to release him early. He has not established that Defendants had this duty."). On appeal, the Ninth Circuit panel summarily affirmed the dismissal of Mr. Foster's claims because of the threshold reason that he had not even alleged (and did not contest the district court's conclusion to the contrary) that he proposed an address for his release, thereby negating any claim of causation supporting either a state or § 1983 claim. Foster, 475 Fed. Appx. 241 at **1; CP at 56 ("Plaintiff's failure to submit a valid application—and not any alleged miscalculation by Defendants of Plaintiff's early release date—was the

⁵ See Fed. R. App. P. 32.1 (permitting citation of unpublished federal decisions entered after January 1, 2007); GR 14.1 (allowing citation of unpublished decisions from other jurisdictions "if citation to that opinion is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction of the issuing court. The party citing the opinion shall file and serve a copy of the opinion with the brief or other paper in which the opinion is cited.")

cause of Defendants' alleged failure to provide Plaintiff with release to community custody.") (state and federal citations omitted).

In yet another case (also brought by Mr. Blick's counsel on behalf of another offender), the federal district court also dismissed another similar set of claims under state and federal law seeking damages because an offender was transferred from total confinement to community custody after his early release date following community notification directed under Washington statute and Department policy. Dailey v. Washington, 2012 WL 380272 (W.D. Wash.), affirmed, 510 Fed. Appx. 505 (9th Cir. 2013). CP at 59-68. Again, the district court followed the holdings in Carver, Mattson, and also the district court's decision in Foster. The district court concluded Mr. Dailey had no federally protected interest in his transfer to community custody occurring on a particular date, especially under a Washington statute requiring that advance notification occur not later than thirty days before an offender's release from prison. Dailey, 2012 WL 380272 at *4; CP at 62-63 ("WDOC had the discretion to deny Mr. Daily's early release until such time as it had approved of his planned residence under RCW 9.94A.729(5)(b), and until such time as it had completed its community notice under RCW 72.09.712.") (citation omitted). Again, for similar reasons, the district court also dismissed Mr. Dailey's state claims of false imprisonment and negligence. Dailey,

2012 WL 380272 at *4; CP at 63 ("Mr. Dailey's negligence claim requires him to show that WDOC had a duty to release him early. Mr. Dailey has failed to establish any such duty. Likewise, Mr. Dailey's false imprisonment claim also requires that he establish that he had a right to early release. Mr. Dailey has failed to establish any such right.") (citation omitted). The Ninth Circuit summarily affirmed the district court's dismissal order of all claims, including the state claims for lack of a duty to release early. *Dailey*, 510 Fed. Appx. 505 at *1; CP at 67 (citing *Stalter v. State*, 151 Wn.2d 148, 155, 86 P.3d 1159, 1162 (2004)).

Here, Mr. Blick argues that *Mattson* is inapplicable because he is not asserting a constitutionally liberty interest, but merely a statutory one. Mr. Blick misses the central point of *Mattson* and these related decisions. *Mattson* specifically held that the statute does not mandate an offender's transfer to community custody before the maximum expiration date. As argued above, RCW 9.94A.729 does not create a duty enforceable by the inmate, nor does RCW 72.09.712, the statute requiring victim and witness notification. Both statutes aim at protecting the public—community safety and supervisability, as the Washington Supreme Court has described it. *Mattson*, 166 Wn.2d at 741-42 (lawfully sentenced inmates without a liberty interest in early release are not the class for whose special benefit the Department's obligation to approve release plans was intended); *see*

also Stalter, 151 Wn.2d at 160 ("the people of this State are entitled to the exercise of due care in the supervision of those who have been released.")

(J. Chambers, concurring).

Here, RCW 9.94A.728 and RCW 9.94A.729 do not grant Mr. Blick a state-created interest in release from prison at any time, much less on any particular day, prior to the end of his sentence. On the contrary, Washington law creates the presumption that Mr. Blick would serve his complete sentence. *See* RCW 9.94A.728. "The statute prohibits early release absent existence of one of the statutory exceptions." *State v. Rogers*, 112 Wn.2d 180, 183, 770 P.2d 180 (1989). Washington law also squarely places the affirmative burden on Mr. Blick, and other offenders, to satisfy prison officials that the criteria for early transfer to community custody have been met. The first sentence of the pertinent statute reads:

No person serving a sentence imposed pursuant to this chapter and committed to the custody of the department shall leave the confines of the correctional facility or be released prior to the expiration of the sentence except as follows . . .

RCW 9.94A.728. Currently, RCW 9.94A.728 also states that offenders who have been sentenced to a community custody term "may earn early release time as authorized by RCW 9.94A.729." RCW 9.94A.729(5)(c) states that the Department "may deny" transfer to community custody prior to the expiration of the offender's custody sentence if the

Department determines that the offender's release plan "may" violate the conditions of the sentence or conditions of supervision, place the offender at risk to violate the conditions of the sentence, place the offender at risk to reoffend, or present a risk to victim or community safety. RCW 9.94A.729(5)(c).

Because "may" is permissive, the Department is not compelled to accept a proposed release plan under the discretionary criteria of RCW 9.94A.729(5)(c). The Ninth Circuit in *Carver* took careful note of the highly discretionary nature of the former codification of the release address approval statute, commenting:

Pursuant to that procedural mandate, the DOC has no discretion to decide whether or when to consider an offender for transfer to community custody, But Washington law places no substantive limitation on how the DOC is to make that determination. As noted above, section 9.94A.728(2)(d) enumerates four criteria for evaluating the transfer plan. The statute instructs that the DOC "may deny transfer to community custody if" one or more of those criteria are met. Id. (emphasis added). Far from setting forth "substantive predicates" under which the DOC must grant transfer, the statute is silent regarding even precatory criteria for granting transfer to community custody, specifying only when the DOC "may"-but need not -"deny."

Carver, 558 F.3d at 875 (citations, footnote, inner quotations omitted) (emphasis in original).

RCW 9.94A.729 provides guidance to the Department for determining the validity of an offender's release plan. When read in conjunction with the other statutes cited above, it is clear that RCW 9.94A.729 does not create a legitimate expectation that offenders will be released on their early release date, and therefore, this statute does not create a protected liberty interest in such release. Mattson, 166 Wn.2d at 740 (quoting and citing Carver).6 RCW 9.94A.729(1)(b) expressly includes early release credits received from the county jails. RCW 9.94A.729(1)(b) requires the Department to develop a program to receive and certify both jail-earned time credits and actual time served by offenders in the jails. This section clearly distinguished time credits from actual time served. But nothing in this section compels or even allows the Department to formulate a mandatory release date (including a fictional "MNED") based on jail time credits for offenders who must transfer to community custody when those offenders have not obtained an approved

⁶ Also, our Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit made clear that the statutes governing transfer to community custody provide full discretionary authority to the Department regarding its determination of *how* to make decisions concerning proposed release plans. *Carver*, 558 F.3d at 875; *Mattson*, 166 Wn. 2d at 740. Also, the statute does not prevent the Department from using other criteria, in conjunction with those enumerated in the statute, when determining whether or not to deny a proposed release plan. RCW 9.94A.729(5)(c). Nothing in the statute indicates that it contains a full and complete list of the criteria upon which the DOC may deny a transfer to community custody in lieu of early release. *Id.* Furthermore, due to the statute's broad language of release plan denial being based on "risk to victim safety or community safety," the statute contemplates that the Department will use its knowledge of the timing of victim and witness notifications in setting release dates. *Id.*

release address. Nothing excuses offenders from the address approval requirement because of the early release time earned from the county jail, as opposed to the prison.

Mr. Blick's Brief does not set forth any authority exempting him from the plain and unambiguous requirement of RCW 9.94A.728 that he must serve his complete sentence. Nor does he come forward with any statutory language or other authority exempting him from the clear and unambiguous statutory requirement of RCW 9.94A.729 that he obtain approval for his release plan for transfer to community custody occurring prior to his prison maximum expiration date.

The clear and unambiguous language of section .729 contradicts and defeats Mr. Blick's arguments under statutes and cases relating to early release time received from the jail. See RCW 72.09.729(5)(b) ("The department shall, as a part of its program for release to the community in lieu of earned release, require the offender to propose a release plan that includes an approved residence and living arrangement. All offenders with community custody terms eligible for release to community custody in lieu of earned release shall provide an approved residence and living arrangement prior to release to the community.") (emphasis added). A statute's clear and unambiguous language controls. See Bowie v. Dept. of Revenue, 171 Wn.2d 1, 10, 248 P.3d 504 (2011). A court need not

consider the legislative history of an unambiguous statute. *Carlsen v. Global Client Solutions*, 171 Wn.2d 486, 495, 256 P.3d 321 (2011).

Mr. Blick's arguments are also defeated by the laws governing sex offenders and offenders generally. Mr. Blick is a convicted sex offender; his own judgment and sentence specifically requires that he receive "prior approval for living arrangements and residence location." CP at 81. The pre-approved address requirement applies to all offenders whose offense date is on or after June 11, 1992. Also, it applies to sex offenders whose offense date is on or after July 1, 1988, but prior to June 11, 1992 if their judgment and sentence imposes the pre-approved address requirement. The pre-approved address requirement has been a mandatory condition of supervision for all offenders since June 11, 1992. See Laws of 1992, ch. 75, § 2; see also former RCW 9.94A.715(2)(a) (2000); former RCW 9.94A.120(9)(b) (1998);RCW 9.94A.700(4)(e) former (2000).Specifically, it was mandatory for the court to impose this condition at sentencing, unless the court affirmatively waived the condition. For sex offenders in particular, before the 1992 amendment, it had been an optional condition that courts could impose at sentencing since July 1, 1988. See Laws of 1988, ch. 153, § 2. The 1988 law with respect to sex offenders, and the 1992 law with respect to all offenders, gave the Department the authority to deny an offender's release address proposal if

the offender's crime was committed on or after the effective dates of those 1988 and 1992 amendments, as long as the condition was in their judgment and sentence.

Mr. Blick repeatedly references Washington law authorizing counties to award good time to inmates in their jails before they serve prison time in Department facilities, as many felon offenders in Washington State do. See generally Appellant Br. at 10-17 (discussing State v. Donery, 131 Wn. App. 667, 128 P.3d 1263 (2006); In re Matter of Williams, 121 Wn.2d 655, 853 P.2d 444 (1993); and other cases). But those cases address only the county's authority to grant or deny jail good time. None of those cases address the issue central in this case: the Department's discretion to reject a proposed release address when an offender is to be transferred from prison to community custody prior to his prison maximum expiration date. As discussed above, the prisoner's receipt of county early release time does not affect the Department's discretion to approve or reject a release address. As Carver and Mattson clearly explain, regardless of where the early release time came from, the early release date (made sooner because of early release time received by the offender) provides the opportunity for the offender to propose a release address as part of a release plan and for the Department, in its discretion, to approve or reject it. The early release date does not provide an

entitlement to release on any date prior to the end of a prisoner's sentence. Carver, 558 F.3d at 875; Mattson, 166 Wn.2d at 741.

Here, Mr. Blick cannot cite any statute or case law compelling the Department to approve proposed release addresses and complete the notification process so that an offender may be transferred to community custody on his early release date. Similarly, Mr. Blick provides no statute or case compelling the Department to approve proposed release addresses and complete the notification process on what Mr. Blick refers to as his "MNED." Here, Mr. Blick cannot point to anything under RCW 72.09.712, 9.94A.728, or 9.94A.729 that changes this legal landscape where notification to the community and to victims must occur at least before a certain period prior to such transfer. RCW 72.09.712(1). Instead, the statute simply states "no later than thirty days before release," creating a minimum period of time before which notice must be given. *Id.* There is no language in the statute that bars the Department from giving notification before a longer period of time. Thus, the Department's alleged policy of requiring at least 35 days for notification is within its statutory authority; Mr. Blick can complain of no violation of Washington law.

2. Mr. Blick Lacks Standing To Bring His Claims Because He Was Not Impacted By Notification Requirements And He Never Obtained An Approved Address

The standing doctrine prohibits a litigant from raising another's legal rights. Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System, 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987) amended 109 Wn.2d 107, 750 P.2d 254 (1988), appeal dismissed 488 U.S. 805, 109 S. Ct. 35, 102 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1988). The Washington Supreme Court has established a two-part test to determine standing. The first part of the test asks "whether the interest sought to be protected is 'arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question." Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). The second part of the test considers whether the challenged action has caused "injury in fact," economic or otherwise, to the party seeking standing. Save a Valuable Env't v. City of Bothell, 89 Wn.2d. 862, 866, 89 P.2d 401 (1978). Both tests must be met by the party seeking standing. Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5, 150 Wn.2d at 802.

Here, Mr. Blick lacks standing to bring these claims in two clear respects. First his own complaint admitted he was not impacted by notification requirements. He alleges that "[i]n the event his release address was approved, he would have been required to wait for 35 days

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